RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jun 15, 2012, 2:38 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

# Court of Appeals No. 31451-1

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# WALTER L. TAMOSAITIS and SANDRA B. TAMOSAITIS, a marital community,

Plaintiffs/Appellants

v.

BECHTEL NATIONAL, INC., FRANK RUSSO, and GREGORY ASHLEY,

Defendants/Respondents,

ON APPEAL FROM BENTON COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT (Hon. Craig J. Matheson)

Case No. 10-2-02357-4

## BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

John P. Sheridan, WSBA #21473 The Sheridan Law Firm, P.S. Hoge Building, Suite 1200 705 Second Avenue Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 381-5949 Attorneys for Appellants

#### I. INTRODUCTION

This case pits Plaintiff/Appellant Dr. Walter Tamosaitis,<sup>1</sup> a Hanford manager, engineer, and whistleblower employed by Hanford subcontractor URS, against Defendant/Respondent Bechtel National, Inc. ("BNI"),<sup>2</sup> the Hanford prime contractor that retaliated against Dr. Tamosaitis for opposing unsafe design practices at the Hanford Tank Waste Treatment and Immobilization Plant ("WTP").

At summary judgment, BNI argued, and the trial court apparently agreed,<sup>3</sup> that Washington common law cannot hold BNI accountable for tortious interference with a business expectancy for engaging in whistleblower retaliation. BNI's shotgun approach at summary judgment included arguments that tortious interference with a business expectancy claim does not apply to at-will employees;<sup>4</sup> that since BNI is the Department of Energy's ("DOE") prime contractor at Hanford, it cannot be considered a third party for tortious interference purposes against its

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Plaintiff/Appellant Sandra Tamosaitis is a party in name only to represent the marital community. She did not work for Bechtel National, Inc. and does not assert any individual claims against Defendants/Respondents.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> BNI and individual defendants/respondents Frank Russo and Greg Ashley are referred to collectively as "BNI" unless otherwise indicated.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The trial court did not provide any findings to support its initial decision, or its denial of the motion for reconsideration, and therefore Dr. Tamosaitis can only surmise the court's reasoning.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Dr. Tamosaitis is an at-will employee; he was not terminated, but was instead removed from his management position and assigned to a basement office offsite with little meaningfully work. CP 2412-2413.

subcontractor's employee; and that since BNI management simply threatened to withhold funds from URS if URS continued to assign Dr. Tamosaitis to the WTP, as opposed to pressuring URS to terminate him, there is insufficient pecuniary loss to support the claim.

Hanford is located in the third appellate division, where this case was brought. If the Division III Court of Appeals heard the case, Dr. Tamosaitis would not likely prevail because Division III holds that at-will employees do not have a business expectancy in continued employment. *Evergreen Moneysource Mortg. Co. v. Shannon*, 167 Wn. App. 242, 258, 274 P.3d 375 (2012), *Woody v. Stapp*, 146 Wn. App. 16, 24, 189 P.3d 807 (2008). However, if the events had occurred in the first appellate division, Dr. Tamosaitis would prevail on that issue because Division I holds that "[a] contract that is terminable at will is until terminated, valid and subsisting, and the defendant may not interfere with it." *Eserhut v. Heister*, 52 Wn. App. 515, 519 n.4, 762 P.2d 6 (1988). This Court must resolve this conflict between the divisions.<sup>5</sup>

This Court has the opportunity and the obligation to protect the people of Washington from arrogant Hanford contractors who put the lives

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Division III holdings in *Evergreen* and *Woody* appear to also run afoul of this Court's reasoning in *Commodore v. University Mechanical Contractors, Inc.*, 120 Wn.2d 120, 138, 839 P.2d 314 (1992) (union employee's tortious interference claim may be brought without reference to CBA; Washington does not require the existence of an enforceable contract or the breach of one to state claim for tortious interference).

of our citizens at risk and who believe they are beyond accountability for their retaliatory actions against Hanford whistleblowers who oppose their improper actions. Only this Court can protect the people. In a parallel federal court case brought by Dr. Tamosaitis against URS and DOE for violations of the Energy Reorganization Act's ("ERA") whistleblower provisions, 42 U.S.C. § 5851, the federal court judge ruled that Department of Labor ("DOL") precedent, which could have held DOE liable for its part in this retaliatory scheme, "is simply too slender a reed upon which this court is willing to declare the existence of a general rule that it is possible for a government contracting agency to be deemed an 'employer." *Tamosaitis v. URS, Inc.*, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 73305, \*9 (E.D. Wash. May 24, 2012) (Appendix 1). That same analysis would no doubt have been applied by the federal court to BNI had Dr. Tamosaitis sought to hold BNI liable for whistleblower retaliation in federal court under the ERA.<sup>6</sup>

Tortious interference with a business expectancy is a powerful tool that can be used to hold Hanford contractors accountable when they

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> DOL precedent holds that, "[I]n a hierarchical employment context, an employer that acts in the capacity of an employer with regard to a particular employee may be subject to liability under the environmental whistleblower provisions, notwithstanding the fact that the employer does not directly compensate or immediately supervise the employee. A **parent company or contracting agency** acts in the capacity of an employer by establishing, modifying or otherwise interfering with an employee of a subordinate company regarding the employee's compensation, terms, conditions or privileges of employment." *Stephenson v. National Aeronautics and Space Admin.*, ALJ No. 94-TSC-5, ARB No. 98-025 (ARB July 18, 2000) (emphasis added).

interfere with the employment opportunities of Hanford subcontractor employees in retaliation for whistleblowing, but only if this Court provides clear guidance to the lower courts. This Court must provide that guidance. The summary judgment ruling dismissing Dr. Tamosaitis' tortious interference claim against BNI should be vacated and the case should be remanded for trial because tortious interference is a valid claim in Washington for third party interference by contractors who retaliate against subcontractor employees for blowing the whistle on safety issues, and because there are issues of material fact in this case that can only be resolved by a jury.

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

#### A. Assignment of Error

1. The trial court erred in granting BNI's motion for summary judgment, and in denying Dr. Tamosaitis' motion for reconsideration, on his common law tortious interference with a business expectancy claim. (CP 2503, 2576, RP 1-48)

#### B. Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error

- 1. Whether an "at-will" employee of a subcontractor at the Hanford WTP states a cause of action for tortious interference with a business expectancy when the primary contractor directs the subcontractor to remove the employee from his position in retaliation for whistleblowing?
  - a. Whether an "at-will" employee has a business expectancy in his position when the employee would not have been removed from his position absent retaliation by the prime contractor?
  - b. Whether Dr. Tamosaitis had a valid business

expectancy in continued employment at the WTP?

- c. Whether Dr. Tamosaitis established a genuine issue of material fact with regard to BNI's knowledge of the relationship?
- d. Whether Dr. Tamosaitis established a genuine issue of material fact with regard to BNI's intentional interference, which caused a breach of his relationship with URS?
- e. Whether Dr. Tamosaitis established a genuine issue of material fact concerning the improper purpose for which BNI interfered?
- f. Whether Dr. Tamosaitis established a genuine issue of material fact with regard to the resulting damage?

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Procedural History

This case was originally filed by Dr. Tamosaitis in Benton County Superior Court alleging tortious interference against BNI and BNI managers Russo and Ashley, and alleging civil conspiracy against URS and BNI and individual managers. CP 1-2, 33. Defendants removed the case to federal court alleging fraudulent joinder. CP 127. Once in federal court, relying on *Woody v. Stapp*, 146 Wn. App. 16, 189 P.3d 807 (2008), the defendants sought to dismiss the case claiming that "no cause of action will lie for tortious interference with an employment contract where such a contract is terminable at will." CP 130-131, 1281, 1283 (citing *Woody*, BNI argued, "at will employees do not have a business expectancy in continued employment").<sup>7</sup> The federal judge rejected the defendants'

arguments and remanded the case back to state court. CP 127-49.

A parallel action was filed by Dr. Tamosaitis with DOL against

URS, BNI, and DOE alleging whistleblower retaliation under the ERA.

On March 24, 2011, in its answer to the administrative charge, BNI denied

that it was Dr. Tamosaitis' employer:

BNI did not employ Tamosaitis and did not have a contract with him; BNI did not and does not have the authority to fire Tamosaitis - indeed, he continues to be employed by URS to this day; URS (which has a separate HR department at WTP) paid Tamosaitis, and handled his benefits; URS withheld taxes on his behalf; URS has control of Tamosaitis's records, including his personnel file, and payroll and tax information; and BNI did not have the authority to discipline Tamosaitis or evaluate his performance. In short, the evidence shows that BNI was not a joint employer of Tamosaitis, a conclusion that is fatal to his claims against BNI.

CP 1482, 2355 n.39 (emphasis added).

After remand of the state claim, BNI and URS moved to dismiss the civil conspiracy claim, again arguing the claim failed based on his at-

will status, the Korslund holding, and scope of employment argument

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> As part of their shotgun approach, the defendants also argued that the tortious interference claim was barred by *Korslund v. Dyncorp Tri-Cities Services, Inc.*, 156 Wn.2d 168, 125 P.3d 119 (2005). CP 42-43, CP 133, 273-274, 317, 328, 330-331 (BNI), 362 (BNI), 371-372, 720, 726, 771. Misreading the holding in *Houser v. City of Redmond*, 91 Wn.2d 36, 39, 586 P.2d 482 (1978), the defendants also "fundamentally misrepresent[ed] the doctrine of *respondeat superior* / vicarious liability" in arguing that the individual defendants could not be held liable since they were acting within the scope of their authority. CP 129-130.

made previously. CP 1107, 1115, 1214, 1366, 1382. The trial court denied the defendants' motions to dismiss. CP 1408-1409.

After one year had passed in the DOL forum, Dr. Tamosaitis dropped BNI from the ERA administrative case so he could pursue BNI in state court under Washington law, and pursued URS and DOE in federal court. *See* 42 U.S.C. Section 5851(b)(4).<sup>8</sup> In the state court action, Dr. Tamosaitis moved to amend the complaint to drop the civil conspiracy claim, URS, and the URS individual defendants. CP 1522. The motion was granted, and Dr. Tamosaitis filed an amended complaint reflecting the changes. CP 1560, 1563-1595.

On November 23, 2011, BNI moved for summary judgment on the tortious interference claim, again arguing that at-will employees do not have a business expectancy in continued employment. CP 1625, 2482. BNI again misread and misapplied the holding of *Houser v. City of Redmond*, 91 Wn.2d 36, 39, 586 P.2d 482 (1978), and claimed, in stark contrast to its representations to the DOL in the administrative forum, that "BNI has the contractual right and duty to make managerial decisions concerning the Project, including personnel decisions." CP 1599.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Section 5851(b)(4) states in part, "If the Secretary [of the Department of Labor] has not issued a final decision within 1 year after the filing of a complaint . . . and there is no showing that such delay is due to the bad faith of the person seeking relief under this paragraph, such person may bring an action at law or equity for de novo review in the appropriate district court of the United States, which shall have jurisdiction over such an action without regard to the amount in controversy."

On January 9, 2012, the trial court granted BNI's Motion for Summary Judgment, dismissing Dr. Tamosaitis' common law tortious interference with a business expectancy claim. CP 2503. The trial court also denied plaintiff's motion for reconsideration. CP 2576. Neither decision contained any findings. *See also* RP 1-48.

Dr. Tamosaitis timely appealed, originally to Division III, and after reconsideration was denied, he redirected his appeal to the Supreme Court. CP 2570, 2580.

#### B. Background on Hanford and the Waste Treatment Plant

The Hanford nuclear site is owned by DOE. It is our country's most contaminated facility, containing two-thirds of the nation's high-level nuclear waste. CP 2071, 2393-94.

BNI is the prime contractor for DOE at Hanford. CP 2071. URS, Dr. Tamosaitis' employer, is BNI's prime subcontractor, however, URS splits profits and fees paid equally with BNI. CP 2393. It is undisputed that BNI and URS maintain two different Human Resources departments and that Dr. Tamosaitis never worked for BNI. CP 1603.

The WTP is backbone of the Hanford cleanup effort. The basic objective of the WTP is to turn the hazardous, liquid nuclear waste into a stable (vitrified) glass form so uncontrolled or catastrophic releases do not occur. CP 2394. This chemical process must be done while preventing further spread of nuclear contamination through accidents, fires, leaks, explosions, and other preventable events. *Id.* The WTP will cost taxpayers billions of dollars, and both cost and schedule for the WTP have grown by over 240 percent, with a 2020 completion date. CP 2071, 2394. The WTP is being built with a design life of forty years, and there are parts of the WTP that will be so contaminated from the operations that they must be designed so they can be operated without maintenance. CP 2394.

#### C. Dr. Tamosaitis is an Experienced Engineer Who Expected to Remain at the WTP Until Retirement

Dr. Tamosaitis is a licensed professional engineer with a Ph.D. in systems engineering. CP 2395. He has over 42 years of industrial experience in the chemical and nuclear industries, working for 20 years with DuPont Corporation and 22 years with URS, or its predecessors, in DOE-associated work. *Id.* 

In 2003, while employed by Washington Group International, Dr. Tamosaitis was assigned, and agreed, to work at the WTP as the Research and Technology ("R&T") Manager on a two-year temporary assignment. CP 2395. His family stayed in South Carolina. *Id.* In 2006, after URS acquired the company, Dr. Tamosaitis agreed to stay at the WTP and move his family to Richland after being promised by URS management

that he could remain at the WTP until he "retired or died." CP 2396. In the second half of 2006, Dr. Tamosaitis was assigned the additional duties of Assistant Chief Process Engineer at the WTP. *Id.* As the R&T Manager and Assistant Chief Process Engineer, Dr. Tamosaitis was responsible for the R&T Program supporting the \$12+ billion WTP Project. CP 2396-97.

Dr. Tamosaitis' job responsibilities at the WTP also included identifying and solving technology problems and raising concerns to management about engineering and process issues that could potentially affect the safe, efficient, and effective operation of the WTP. CP 2397. Dr. Tamosaitis headed a project that successfully closed the "M12" issue on time and on budget. *Id.* Dr. Tamosaitis documented M12 issues that remained unresolved after closure and raised them to his management in 2009 and 2010. *Id.* 

#### D. DOE Contracts With Hanford Contractors Prohibit Whistleblower Retaliation

Every DOE contractor is bound by the following contract term, which, in each contract, falls under the heading: "WHISTLEBLOWER PROTECTION FOR CONTRACTOR EMPLOYEES."

> The Contractor shall comply with the requirements of DOE Contractor Employee Protection Program at 10 CFR part 708 for work performed on behalf of DOE directly related to activities at DOE-owned or -leased sites, with respect to work performed on-site at a DOE-owned or -leased facility, as provided for at Part 708.

CP 2564-65. The regulation imposes an affirmative duty on the contractor not to retaliate. 10 C.F.R. § 708.43. Under the framework,

"retaliation means an action (including intimidation, threats, restraint, coercion or similar action) taken by a contractor against an employee with respect to employment (*e.g.*, discharge, demotion, or other negative action with respect to the employee's compensation, terms, conditions or privileges of employment) . . . ." 10 C.F.R. § 708.2. BNI violated these provisions. The violation of this contract term, and violation of applicable work customs at Hanford, define BNI's improper purpose in removing Dr. Tamosaitis from the WTP for raising safety and technical concerns.

#### E. BNI's Problems at the WTP Using "Design-Build"

Hearings were held in 2005, which resulted in a 2006 Government Accountability Office ("GAO") report, which found that since the WTP construction contract was awarded in 2000, the WTP's estimated cost increased more than 150 percent to about \$11 billion, and the completion date has been extended from 2011 to 2017 or later. CP 2070-2071. The GAO found three main causes for the increases in the project's cost and completion date: "(1) the contractor's performance shortcomings in developing project estimates and implementing nuclear safety requirements, (2) DOE management problems, including inadequate oversight of the contractor's performance, and (3) technical challenges that have been more difficult than expected to address." CP 2071. The "design-build" approach permits the contractor to begin building the project before the design is complete. The GAO linked the ongoing problems at the WTP to: "(1) the continued use of a fast-track, designbuild approach for the remaining work on the construction project; (2) the historical unreliability of cost and schedule estimates; and (3) inadequate incentives and management controls for ensuring effective project." CP 2071.

In response to GAO criticism of the WTP during congressional hearings held in April 2005, Dr. Tamosaitis was appointed in October 2005 as the lead of the first DOE External Flowsheet Review Team ("EFRT"), also known as the "Best and Brightest" review. CP 2397. Over fifty consultants were hired to review the technical viability of the WTP project over a four-month period. *Id.* The EFRT study identified 28 issues, and its report was the subject of media coverage, external review, and inquiries to BNI. *Id.* The review classified 17 of the 28 issues as "major" ("M") issues and 11 as "potential" ("P"), but recommended that all be resolved. CP 2395. In any case, "closure" of an issue does not necessarily mean the issue is completed or finished. *Id.* Much work, and major technical issues, can remain. *Id.* 

## F. The "M3" Mixing Issue Was the Last Remaining EFRT Issue to Be Resolved and DOE Established a Deadline of June 30, 2010 for Its Closing in Order for BNI to Receive A \$6 Million Fee Under the Contract

On May 15, 1989, DOE, the U.S. Environmental Protection

Agency, and the State of Washington Department of Ecology signed a comprehensive cleanup and compliance agreement known as the Tri-Party Agreement, which is an agreement for achieving compliance at Hanford with the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act ("CERCLA") remedial action provisions and with the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act ("RCRA") treatment, storage, and disposal unit regulations and corrective action provisions. Department of Energy Hanford, Tri-Party Agreement, available at http://www.hanford .gov /page.cfm/TriParty (last visited June 13, 2012). The Tri-Party Agreement: "1) defines and ranks CERCLA and RCRA cleanup commitments at Hanford; 2) establishes responsibilities; 3) provides a basis for budgeting; and 4) reflects a concerted goal of achieving full regulatory compliance and remediation, with enforceable milestones in an aggressive manner." Id. One milestone of the Tri-Party agreement was the closure of all technical issues by December 31, 2009. CP 2398. The M3 issue was the last open "M" EFRT issue of the 28 that required closure. Id.

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