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

alleged business expectancies he named in his deposition. He concedes that he never spoke to anyone at BNI about either of those two positions—PE&T Director and WTP Chief Engineer. CP 1672-74. He further concedes that BNI approval would have been necessary for him to be moved into either of those positions. CP 1652. Tamosaitis's failure to come forward with any evidence that BNI knew of his interest in either of those positions provides yet another separate and independent ground for affirmance of the trial court's ruling. Fisher v. Parkview Properties, Inc., 71 Wn. App. 468, 480, 859 P.2d 77 (1993).

3. Tamosaitis's separate employment relationship with URS was not breached or terminated, and thus cannot be the basis for a tortious interference claim.

Any attempt by Tamosaitis to skirt the multiple fatal flaws in his claim of an alleged WTP "expectancy" by making the alternative argument that BNI somehow interfered with his separate employment relationship with URS would be equally futile. In order to support a tortious interference claim, the employment relationship in question must have been breached or terminated. *Commodore*, 120 Wn.2d at 137 (plaintiff must show intentional interference "inducing or causing a breach or termination of the relationship or expectancy"); *Steele v. Johnson*, 76 Wn.2d 750, 753, 458 P.2d 889 (1969) (whether tortious interference occurred "depends upon the answer to the question of whether defendants

breached a duty to plaintiff"). Tamosaitis admits that there has been no interruption in his employment with URS. He has "continuously been a URS employee" since he left WTP on July 2, 2010, and has "continued to receive [his] URS salary" right up to today. CP 1657.³⁶

In fact, Tamosaitis's very next URS assignment after leaving WTP was a position he had enthusiastically *sought* in the course of his intensive job search over the prior months. His May 27, 2010 email to Schmoker (marked "Importance: High") spoke of a "Special Assignment" in which he professed to be "*really* interested." CP 1787 (emphasis in original). After stating that Gay "agreed that I could be made available at the end of June," Tamosaitis made the pitch to Schmoker that "I bring a lot to the table to help you," and indicated his interest "in learning more about the business and the marketing side of our Company." *Id.* Immediately following his transfer off WTP, Tamosaitis *was* assigned by URS to Schmoker's "skunk works" (a group supporting URS's work at the "Tank Farm"). Tamosaitis conceded this was the assignment he had pursued with Schmoker:

Q: But my point is that the—that type of work is something that you had solicited in an email, Mr. Schmoker to be involved in, back in May 2010, correct?

³⁶ Tamosaitis's conclusory statement that BNI "caused a breach" in his "employment relationship with URS" (App. Br. 37) is unsupported by any evidence.

A: Yes.

Q: And then that's where you ended up actually as of July 13, 2010, correct?

A: Correct.

CP 1659. Tamosaitis further conceded that this was a "genuine program," CP 1660, and that he was treated cordially by Schmoker and indeed by all of his URS co-workers while assigned to it. CP 1657-58.

In light of these admissions, no reasonable juror could find that Tamosaitis's employment with URS was breached or terminated.³⁷

4. Tamosaitis has suffered no economic damages.

a. A plaintiff asserting a tortious interference claim must demonstrate economic loss.

In order to sustain a tortious interference claim, the plaintiff must demonstrate that he or she has suffered economic loss. *See Newton Ins.*, 114 Wn. App. at 158 (a business expectancy is something of "pecuniary"

³⁷ The admitted absence of any breach or termination of Tamosaitis's URS employment distinguishes this case from Awana v. Port of Seattle, 121 Wn. App. 429, 89 P.3d 291 (2004), where a subcontractor fired its employees after they allegedly raised safety concerns. 121 Wn. App. at 431-32. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's order of summary judgment dismissing wrongful discharge and breach of contract claims brought against the Port of Seattle, the prime contractor, by members of the subcontractor's work crew. In dictum, the Court noted that while no direct contract or whistleblower claim could be sustained against the Port, the workers "presumably have an action against the Port for tortious interference." Id. at 436. Here, Tamosaitis admits he was not fired, and his employment with URS continues to this day. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals' dictum in Awana is inapposite. Likewise, any attempt to invoke Awana in support of a tortious interference claim premised on an alleged WTP expectancy would be meritless: While in Awana the Port had "no contractual or other right to intervene" in the subcontractor's work crew assignments, id. at 435, BNI has authority to decide who fills senior management positions at WTP and thus cannot be considered an intermeddling third party.

value"); Rest. (2d) Torts § 766, cmt. t ("The cause of action is for pecuniary loss resulting from the interference"). The alleged improper interference "must 'in fact cause injury to the . . . contractual relationship," that is, the economic relationship interfered with. *Cornish*, 158 Wn. App. at 225 (quoting *Leingang v. Pierce County Medical Bureau*, 131 Wn.2d 133, 157, 930 P.2d 288 (1997)) (alteration by the court); accord Schmerer v. Darcy, 80 Wn. App. 499, 505, 910 P.2d 498 (1996) ("Intentional interference . . . requires . . . injury to the person's contractual or business relationships."). 38

Tamosaitis's contrary argument, App. Br. 42-47, misconstrues

Washington case law by purporting to rely on cases that uniformly do

involve a threshold showing of economic loss. For example, in *Cherberg*v. Peoples Nat'l Bank of Washington, 88 Wn.2d 595, 564 P.2d 1137

(1977), a lessee business owner sued its landlord for harm to its business,

alleging the landlord wrongfully refused to repair the property, thereby

forcing the temporary closure of the lessee's business. The plaintiff

satisfied the pecuniary loss requirement of the tort by introducing evidence

³⁸ Courts in other jurisdictions are in accord. See, e.g., All Star, Inc. v. Fellows, 297 Ga. App. 142, 142, 676 S.E.2d 808 (2009) ("[t]o support a verdict for tortious interference with business relations the evidence must show . . . plaintiff suffered some financial injury"); Tech Plus v. Ansel, 59 Mass. App. Ct. 12, 18-19, 793 N.E.2d 1256 (2003), rev. denied, 440 Mass. 1108 (2003) (emotional distress and harm to reputation insufficient to state claim for intentional interference because "actual pecuniary loss" is "essential element" of the claim).

of "business disruption" damages of \$3,100. 88 Wn.2d at 600. The Court separately addressed the appropriateness of the jury's overall verdict of \$42,000 to determine whether it was justified in light of *additional* evidence regarding the mental distress, inconvenience and discomfort suffered by the plaintiffs. *Id.* at 606-07.

The Court's reasoning in *Cherberg* is in keeping with the Restatement, which emphasizes that while "[r]ecovery may be had *also* for consequential harms for which the interference was a legal cause," the cause of action "is for pecuniary loss resulting from the interference." Rest. (2d) Torts § 766, cmt. t (emphasis added). Nothing in the *Cherberg* Court's opinion negates the well-established necessity of showing concrete pecuniary loss arising from harm to the underlying economic relationship in order to satisfy the elements of the tort. 39

Similarly, in *Island Air, Inc. v. La Bar*, 18 Wn. App. 129, 145, 566 P.3d 972 (1977) (cited by Tamosaitis at App. Br. 42), the Court of Appeals addressed the question of whether the *amount* of damages awarded for tortious interference was "adequate." The court found "no

³⁹ Tamosaitis also cites to *White River Estates v. Hiltbruner*, 134 Wn.2d 761, 953 P.2d 796 (1998). That case did not address damages recoverable on a tortious interference claim but rather the availability of emotional distress damages under the Mobile Home Landlord-Tenant Act, RCW 50.20.073. 134 Wn.2d at 763. Moreover, as in *Cherberg*, the plaintiff in *White River Estates* demonstrated tangible economic loss—resulting in a "compensatory damages" award of \$17,800—in addition to her emotional distress claim. *Id.* at 765.

basis for overturning the assessment of damages"—\$18,000 in yearly profits—and held that there had not been "any loss to the plaintiff from mental anguish, discomfort, inconvenience, injury to reputation or humiliation." *Id.* Neither *Island Air* nor any other case cited by Tamosaitis suggests that non-pecuniary harm can satisfy the "resultant damages" requirement of a tortious interference claim.⁴⁰

b. Tamosaitis has admitted under oath that he has suffered no economic loss.

Tamosaitis admits that he has "continued to receive [his] URS salary," and remains at the highest non-executive pay grade within the URS system, earning a base salary of \$228,800. CP 1657, 1663-64. His total annual compensation, including his bonus and Savannah River retirement benefits, is about \$375,000, not including additional compensation in the form of his employee benefits package. CP 1663-64. He received a merit pay raise in 2011 of the same percentage he received

⁴⁰ Tamosaitis claims that the Court in Seidell v. Taylor, 86 Wash. 645, 151 P. 41 (1915) "affirmed a judgment for loss of goodwill without any 'tangible damages." App. Br. 45. In reality, the phrase "tangible damages" appears nowhere in the Seidell decision, and the damage award in that case was supported by "abundant[]" evidence of pecuniary harm to the business relationship interfered with: plaintiffs suffered a loss of "good will... of very substantial value," and "the evidence showed the manner of carrying on the business, its receipts, expenses, and profits for some time... in considerable detail." 86 Wash. at 648. Nothing in Seidell relieves Tamosaitis of the obligation to show pecuniary harm resulting from the alleged interference in order to maintain his claim. Tamosaitis also cites to Sunland Invest., Inc. v. Graham, 54 Wn. App. 361, 773 P.2d 873 (1989), and Calbom, 65 Wn.2d 157. In both of those cases, however, the damages awarded to the plaintiff went to the lost value of the actual business expectancy that was interfered with. 54 Wn. App. at 364; 65 Wn.2d at 166-67.

in 2009 and 2010. CP 1689. He has conceded that any claim of economic damages would be speculative. CP 1683-84.

Tamosaitis attempts to deflect attention from his failure to produce evidence of economic damages by citing a number of cases for unremarkable principles that are irrelevant to his claim. For example, he cites to Wash. State Physicians Ins. Exch. & Ass'n v. Fisons Corp., 122 Wn.2d 299, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993) for the proposition that damage to reputation may be pecuniary in nature. He also cites Taskett v. King Broad. Co., 86 Wn.2d 439, 480, 546 P.2d 81 (1976) for the same concept, but quotes only from Justice Horowitz's dissenting opinion in that libel case. He cites In re Fleege, 91 Wn.2d 324, 326, 588 P.2d 1136 (1979), for the equally uncontested proposition that business goodwill may have "real pecuniary value." These authorities do not excuse Tamosaitis's inability to introduce any evidence of actual pecuniary loss associated with goodwill, his professional reputation, or anything else. He instead has offered only broad, conclusory statements that were indistinguishable from the bare allegations of his complaint. In his briefing to this Court, Tamosaitis continues to substitute meaningless, conclusory statements,

⁴¹ Examples of the empty statements that masqueraded as evidence of damages in Tamosaitis's Response to BNI's Motion for Summary Judgment included that he has lost "career advancement opportunities" (CP 1954), "future consulting opportunities" (id.), "income" (CP 1983), and "professional opportunities" (CP 1984). None of those conclusory allegations was supported by a shred of evidence.

such as that his "career is damaged" (App. Br. 46), for actual evidence.

Such empty allegations will not suffice to avoid summary judgment.

Brown v. Park Place Homes Realty, Inc., 48 Wn. App. 554, 558-60, 739

P.2d 1188 (1987) (affirming entry of summary judgment dismissing wrongful interference claim where plaintiff made "only broad, conclusory statements concerning the damages he suffered," and therefore "failed to raise any factual issues regarding damage").

c. The trial court properly disregarded the additional "evidence" submitted by Tamosaitis after summary judgment was entered.

After summary judgment had been entered on January 9, 2012,

Tamosaitis attempted to remedy his wholesale failure to offer evidence of
economic damages by submitting a supplemental brief and declaration.

CP 2508-20. Tamosaitis had ample opportunity to submit those materials
within the time frame established by Civil Rule 56. In fact, he had been
aware of the alleged "damages" information contained in his supplemental
declaration since July 2010—nearly eighteen months prior to the due date
for his response to the summary judgment motion. He offered no excuse
for his failure to submit the materials in a timely fashion. 42

⁴² "The realization that [the] first declaration was insufficient does not qualify the second declaration as newly discovered evidence." *Go2Net, Inc. v. C I Host, Inc.*, 115 Wn. App. 73, 91, 60 P.3d 1245 (2003); *see also Sligar v. Odell*, 156 Wn. App. 720, 734, 233 P.3d 914 (2010) (affirming denial of reconsideration of

In denying Tamosaitis's motion for reconsideration, the trial court disregarded his after-the-fact attempt to supplement the record. CP 2576-77. This was an appropriate exercise of the trial court's discretion. In *Brown*, the plaintiff filed a supplemental affidavit following the summary judgment hearing in an attempt to remedy its "broad, conclusory statements" regarding damages and thereby create a genuine issue of material fact on that element of a tortious interference claim. 48 Wn. App. at 558. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's refusal to consider the untimely affidavit, noting that (as in the instant case) the plaintiff had "no excuse for failing to address the issues in prior materials submitted to the court," *id.* at 560, and holding that "whether to accept or reject untimely filed affidavits lies within the trial court's discretion." *Id.* at 559.

This Court should likewise disregard the late-filed materials.

Where evidence available at the time of a motion for summary judgment is first presented *after* entry of summary judgment, a trial court does not abuse its discretion in rejecting a subsequent motion for reconsideration; the appellate court will consider only those facts considered by the trial court when it entered summary judgment, and will disregard

summary judgment where declaration "could have been presented at the time the trial court was considering the original summary judgment motion").

"supplemental" materials. Wagner Dev. Inc., 95 Wn. App. at 898 n.1; RAP 9.12.⁴³

Even if Tamosaitis's untimely materials were considered, however, they would not create an issue of material fact on the pecuniary damages element of his tortious interference claim. Tamosaitis's assertion that URS failed to return to him \$2,000 worth of textbooks kept in his WTP office does not state pecuniary loss in connection with an alleged lost business expectancy. To support a tortious interference claim, the alleged interference "must 'in fact cause injury to the . . . contractual relationship." *Cornish*, 158 Wn. App. at 225 (quoting *Leingang*, 131 Wn.2d at 157). Instead, Tamosaitis appears to allege a conversion of personal property on the part of his employer, URS. His late-filed materials are therefore irrelevant as well as untimely.

E. Ashley Took no Action that Could Be Construed as "Intentional Interference."

The trial court's ruling should be affirmed for an additional reason as to respondent Greg Ashley. Project Director Russo has testified that he alone made the decision to direct URS to remove Tamosaitis from the

⁴³ In a footnote (App. Br. 43, n.10), Tamosaitis mentions an earlier case, Bremmeyer v. Peter Kiewit Sons Co., 90 Wn.2d 787, 585 P.2d 1174 (1978). However, the Bremmeyer Court merely noted that certain materials were submitted after the trial court's preliminary oral ruling but before entry of the trial court's written order granting summary judgment. 90 Wn.2d at 789. The Court never addressed whether late-filed materials may be considered, id. at 790, which is the issue squarely addressed in Brown and Wagner and presented here.

WTP payroll on July 1, 2010. CP 1751. Tamosaitis has offered no evidence that Ashley participated in that decision. Instead, Tamosaitis admits, his individual claim against Ashley is based solely on the fact that Ashley forwarded Tamosaitis's objectionable July 1 email to Russo with the cryptic cover message "trouble brewing" and "told Mr. Russo he would call him later to talk about it." CP 1679; see also App. Br. 38.

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